0/2 1-11-89

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 72,492

WESTLAND SKATING CENTER, INC. and HIALEAH SKATING CENTER, LTD., by and through WAYNE D. LIPPMAN and STEWART L. CAUFF, as General Partners,

Plaintiffs, Petitioners,	
v. •	
GUS MACHADO BUICK, INC. and MORRISON ASSURANCE CO., CLE	THE FORMAL COURT
	Deputy Clerk

PLAINTIFFS', PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF

Alan T. Dimond, Esq. Steven M. Goldsmith, Esq. GREENBERG, TRAURIG, HOFFMAN, LIPOFF, ROSEN & QUENTEL, P.A. Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Petitioners 1221 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 579-0500

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 29, 1981, Petitioner, Westland Skating Center, Inc. ("Westland")¹/, filed its Complaint against Defendant, Seipp Buick, Inc. ("Seipp Buick"), predecessor-in-interest of Respondent, Gus Machado Buick, Inc. ("Machado Buick") (Record on Appeal at 1-8) ("R. ____").²/ Westland pled four counts for negligence, nuisance, intentional interference with natural easement and trespass, respectively, and sought both damages and injunctive relief (R. 1-8). It alleged that: (a) historically and prior to June, 1981, surface rainwater flowed from the upland property that it leased in Hialeah, Florida, downhill to contiguous property owned by Seipp Buick; (b) in June, 1981, Seipp Buick constructed an 8 foot wall that ran the entire length of Westland's boundary line; and (c) on August 15 and September 25, 1981, the wall acted as a dam to the natural flow of surface rainwaters and flooded its building (R. 2-4).

On June 16, 1982, Westland filed an Amended Complaint (R. 56-64), in which Petitioner, Hialeah Skating Center, Ltd. ("Hialeah Skating"), acting through its general partners, joined

<u>1</u>/ Petitioners will refer to Petitioner, Westland Skating Center, Inc., as "Westland" and will refer to the building which it leased and operated as the "Westland Skating Center".

On or before August 25, 1982, Machado Buick merged with Seipp Buick by purchasing all its shares of stock, thereby becoming its successor-in-interest under Florida Statutes § 607.231 (1985).

the action as party-plaintiff (R. 56). $\frac{3}{}$ Hialeah Skating built the Westland Skating Center and leased it to Westland (<u>Id</u>.). Petitioners also named Respondent, Morrison Assurance Co. ("Morrison Assurance"), the liability insurance carrier for Seipp Buick, as a Defendant (Id.). $\frac{4}{}$

On August 25, 1982, Petitioners substituted Respondent, Machado Buick, as party-defendant for Seipp Buick (R. 77-79). Machado Buick answered the Amended Complaint and alleged that Westland and Hialeah Skating negligently caused their own damage by: (a) negligently altering the natural flow of surface rainwaters; and (b) failing to provide adequate drainage for the natural flow of surface rainwaters after the August 15, 1981 flood (R. 113). It did not allege that Hialeah Skating failed to mitigate its damages other than by providing additional drainage after the first flood, nor did it allege any counterclaims (R. 113-14).

On August 1, 1983, Petitioners moved for a Partial Summary Judgment in which they sought a declaration of law that a lower elevation property owner is liable for damages if he obstructs the natural flow of surface water from an upper elevation property which results in flooding of the upper elevation

<u>4</u>/ Counsel for Machado Buick also represented Morrison Assurance, its insurance carrier. For convenience, Petitioners will refer to both Respondents as Machado Buick.

<u>3</u>/ Petitioners will refer to Westland and Hialeah Skating collectively as Westland, except where necessary to fully explain the facts and apply the law to a specific individual Petitioner.

property (R. 125-26). Respondents responded thereto by stating that Westland negligently caused its own damages by construction in compliance with the South Florida Building Code (R. 111-14).

On December 15, 1983, the trial court granted Partial Summary Judgment. It specifically noted that it was not resolving any issue of fact, nor making any determination regarding liability (R. 191). Instead, the trial court merely declared one of the general principles of law which would govern the case (<u>Id</u>.)

On September 18, 1985, the parties began a seven (7) day jury trial (Transcript at 1-1227) ("T. ___"). On September 27, 1985, the trial court instructed the jury on Petitioners' claims (T. 1212-20). Machado Buick did not specifically object to any of the instructions, $\frac{5}{}$ nor request any alternatives (T. 1133). $\frac{6}{}$ The trial court instructed the jury under the Florida standard negligence instruction that Westland could not recover if it was negligent (T. 1217). The trial court also incorporated the Partial Summary Judgment into the instructions (T. 1215-17). It submitted the counts for nuisance, negligence, and

^{5/} Instead, Machado Buick merely stated generally "[w]e object to you giving No. 10" (T. 1133).

^{6/} Consistent with its failure to object or request any alternative instructions, Machado Buick did not present any evidence that construction in strict compliance with the South Florida Building Code was unreasonable. Instead, it introduced evidence attempting to establish a violation of the civil law rule -- that construction caused the flow of surface water to increase or to deviate.

intentional interference with a natural easement $\frac{7}{}$ to the jury, along with a Special Verdict form (R. 329-30). The Special Verdict form contained special interrogatories which required the jury to enter a special verdict on Westland's claims for nuisance, negligence and intentional interference with a natural easement and specifically find the comparative negligence, if any, of Westland, Hialeah Skating and Machado Buick in returning its verdict (T. 330).

On September 27, 1985, the jury returned its verdict (T. 1220). It (a) returned a verdict for Westland and Hialeah Skating on Counts I, II and III for nuisance, negligence and intentional interference with a natural easement, respectively; (b) assessed the damages sustained by Westland at \$800,000; (c) found that Westland was ten percent (10%) negligent, while Machado Buick was ninety percent (90%) negligent; and (d) assessed Hialeah Skating's damages at \$324,000 (R. 329-30).

On October 9, 1985, the trial court entered separate Final Judgments for Westland (R. 331) and Hialeah Skating (R. 332) of \$800,000 and \$291,600, respectively, thereby reducing the damages for Hialeah Skating by ten percent (10%) (<u>Id</u>.). Machado Buick moved for a new trial or judgment notwithstanding the verdict, which was denied on October 22, 1985 (R. 333-34).

7/

The trial court did not submit Westland's claim for trespass to the jury.

On September 20, 1985, Machado Buick and Morrison Assurance filed their Notice of Appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal of Florida ("Third District") $\frac{8}{2}$ (R. 326).

On May 19, 1987, the Third District reversed the separate Final Judgments which were entered for Petitioners (App. 1-3). <u>Gus Machado Buick, Inc. v. Westland Skating Center, Inc.</u>, 523 So.2d 596 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). The Third District held that the trial court erred by entering Partial Summary Judgment and instructing the jury in accordance with the "reasonable use rule" concerning the disposal of surface water (App. 2-3). It reasoned that the sole issue before the court was whether Westland's construction increased or diverted the surface water flowing onto Machado Buick's property, not whether Westland used its property reasonably under the circumstances. (App. 3).

On May 29, 1987, Petitioners filed their Motion for Rehearing and Rehearing En Banc. On April 26, 1988, the Third District denied Petitioner's Motion for Rehearing <u>per curiam</u>. (App. 4). That same day, it denied the Motion for Rehearing En Banc by a six-to-three vote. (App. 5). Judge Wilkie Ferguson authored an eight (8) page dissenting opinion in which Chief

^{8/} On October 16, 1985, Petitioners moved to tax costs against Machado Buick in the amount of \$66,287.89 (R. 336-39). On January 27, 1986, the trial court entered a Judgment for Costs of \$50,257.46 (R. 335). On February 24, 1986, Machado Buick alone filed its Notice of Appeal from the Judgment for Costs (R. 340-41). On March 6, 1986, the appeals were consolidated by Order of this Court. Morrison Assurance did not join in the Notice of Appeal (R. 340-41), even though the Judgment for Costs was also entered against it Machado Buick abandoned its appeal on the Judg-(R. 335). ment for Costs by failing to even mention it on appeal.

Judge Daniel S. Schwartz and Judge Daniel S. Pearson concurred. (App. 5-12). The dissenting Judges concluded that the trial court correctly instructed the jury in accordance with the reasonable use rule regarding disposal of surface water (App. 10). The instructions, they found, considered in totality, were not so misleading or confusing so as to cause the jury to arrive at a conclusion it otherwise would not have reached (App. 11-12).

On May 25, 1988, Petitioners filed their Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida. On June 6, 1988, Petitioners filed their Brief on the Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court. Petitioners argued that the decision of the Third District expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Fifth District Court Appeal of Florida ("Fifth District") in <u>Seminole County v. Mertz</u>, 415 So.2d 1286, 1289 (Fla. 5th DCA), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 424 So.2d 763 (Fla. 1982), thereby requesting that this Court exercise its jurisdiction to resolve the conflict. On September 29, 1988, this Court accepted jurisdiction in the cause.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1979, Petitioner, Hialeah Skating, built a building and skating center in the City of Hialeah, Florida (T. at 715-16). Hialeah Skating built the building and skating center in strict compliance with the South Florida Building Code ("Building Code"), which had been adopted by the City of Hialeah and governed construction therein, including its specific alternatives, exact mathematical formulas and methods for the disposal of rain-

fall (T. 221). After construction, Hialeah Skating leased the building and skating center to Westland (T. 115-16). The Westland property is contiguous to property owned by Machado Buick, with the rear of the Westland Skating Center building approximately ten (10) feet from the property line of Machado Buick (T. 248).

Before Hialeah Skating constructed the building and skating center, the Westland property had a higher elevation in its natural condition than the Machado Buick property (T. 289-290, 315). A 1961 survey of the Westland property in its natural condition shows that it was at a higher elevation than the adjacent Machado Buick property (T. 289-90, 315). Because water naturally flows from higher to lower elevation, rainfall which accumulated and became surface runoff moved roughly from east to west from the Westland property downhill to the Machado Buick property before construction on either property (T. 291, 318-19, 323).

In October 1970, Machado Buick's predecessor-ininterest (Seipp Buick) constructed its automobile dealership and opened for business (T. 1017). At that time, Seipp Buick did not "fill" its property and it remained at a lower elevation than the Westland property (T. 1028-29). Thereafter, as before, whenever there was a rainstorm, rainwater would run off and flow from the property where the Westland Skating Center later would be constructed downhill to the Machado Buick property (T. 1029). In fact, in April 1979 and 1980, before Hialeah Skating constructed

- 7 -

the Westland Skating Center, floods occurred because rain water flowed down and Seipp Buick suffered flood damage to its vehicles on the lower elevation back lot (T. 473-475).

In 1979, twenty (20) persons formed Hialeah Skating, a Florida limited partnership, to build and equip the skating center building (T. 121, 716). Hialeah Skating leased the land from Maurice Revitz for forty (40) years (T. 418) and spent approximately \$1,000,000 in building and equipping the skating center (T. 716). Hialeah Skating employed Stuart Cohen, an architect licensed in Florida, to design the Westland Skating Center (T. 214). Cohen specifically designed the Westland Skating Center to comply strictly with the Building Code, which had been adopted by the City of Hialeah, including its specific provisions regarding the disposal of rainwater (T. 221).

The Building Code provided five (5) specific alternatives for the disposal of rainwater and specified mathematical formulas for a builder to follow to comply with Building Code requirements for each alternative (Id.). The Building Code requirements are designed to dispose of the rainfall in a normal rain (approximately a half an inch of rain per hour) (T. 225), but are not designed to prevent rainfall in an unusually heavy rainstorm from flowing from the property leased to Westland. (T. 256). Cohen chose a combination of "soakage pits" and "pervious ground", both which were authorized for use together by the Building Code (T. 221). <u>See</u> Hialeah, Florida, Building Code § 4661.1(b)(4) and (5) (1985).

- 8 -

A soakage pit is a subterranean concrete box which permits drainage and holds water until it is absorbed into the ground by percolation (T. 230). A soakage pit has to provide a minimum of .0417 cubic feet of volume for each square foot of impervious area drained into the soakage pit. See Building Code The "pervious" ground Building Code alternative § 4611.4(a)(5). to soakage pits also selected by Cohen required him to provide ten (10) square feet of green area for every one hundred (100) square feet of "impervious" material (T. 221).⁹/ Cohen specifically designed both the soakage pits and the pervious area in back of the Westland Skating Center to drain more rainwater than required by the Building Code (T. 221). Further, he designed the Westland Skating Center with 2,000 square feet of pervious grassy area behind the building, further exceeding the Building Code requirement (T. 258).

The City of Hialeah has a number of departments charged with the responsibility to ensure that construction complies with the Building Code (T. 265). Cohen submitted his plans for the Westland Skating Center to each responsible building department (T. 221), which reviewed the plans for the Westland Skating Center and determined that Cohen's design complied with the Building

^{9/ &}quot;Pervious" ground is ground which will allow water to permeate it and eventually will absorb the water (T. 220-21). In contrast, an "impervious" area is one which does not absorb rainwater, such as a paved asphalt area (Id.).

Code (T. 262-65). The City of Hialeah then issued a construction permit for the Westland Skating Center to Hialeah Skating. (T. 262-65). After construction commenced, the responsible building departments inspected the job site to determine whether work was being done in accordance with the approved plans (T. 264). The City of Hialeah determined that actual construction of the Westland Skating Center complied with the Building Code and issued a Certificate of Occupancy (T. 222, 263).

After the Westland Skating Center and Machado Buick dealership were constructed, the Westland property remained higher to the north and east and the Machado Buick property lower to the south and west (T. 234). The surface flow of water remained the same as it was before construction (T. 324).

In 1980, because Machado Buick's predecessor-ininterest (Seipp Buick) was concerned about the rainwater runoff, John Seipp, its President, met with Maurice Revitz (T. 417). Revitz owned the property upon which Westland Skating Center was located and certain adjoining property (T. 416), but did not own Westland or represent its interests (T. 421). Revitz and Seipp never discussed the Westland Skating Center (Id.). Revitz did not consent to Seipp's request for permission to construct a wall (or curb) that was higher than six to twelve inches (T. 417-22). Rather, he agreed to consider the construction by Seipp Buick of a six-to-twelve inch curb which would be 450 feet long and both parties would share the expense (T. 420).

- 10 -

In November 1980, Revitz received a letter from Seipp's attorney allegedly regarding what Seipp told him had transpired at the meeting (T. 424-25). Revitz considered the letter "ludicrous" because Seipp had "forgotten" that he only had agreed to up to a twelve inch curb (T. 425). Revitz then refused to have further dealings with Seipp never consented to the construction of anything, let alone an eight (8) foot wall (T. 427).

Prior to construction of the wall (T. 529-30), Seipp Buick had retained an engineer, Neil Orange, who advised Seipp of a number of alternatives that would control the water runoff without flooding the Westland Skating Center (T. 530-32). These included raising the grade of the Seipp property, or building dry wells or soakage pits on the Seipp property. (T. 460). However, Seipp Buick ignored its engineer's advice regarding those alternatives that would have controlled any water runoff without flooding the Westland Skating Center (T. 522). Had Seipp Buick complied with its engineer's advice and taken any of his recommended alternatives, it would have cost more money than merely building a wall to act as a dam (T. 1033). Building a wall was the most attractive alternative because it was the cheapest way to stop the downward flow of water (Id). Therefore, contrary to its engineer's advice, Seipp constructed a wall that did not provide for the disposal (or channeling) of the rainwater which would then be blocked by the wall (T. 532).

Seipp Buick then constructed a wall approximately 8 feet high and 2 feet, 8 inches deep (T. 458), which ran 450 feet

- 11 -

along the entire eastern side of its property and along the west side of the Westland property (T. 440-441). Seipp Buick designed the wall with one specific purpose in mind -- to stop the flow of water from the Westland property down onto the Seipp Buick rear lot (T. 1029-33). Seipp Buick did not make any provision to dispose of, or to channel, the water which the wall blocked (T. 314, 460). Instead, the wall acted as a dam to the natural flow of water and caused rain runoff to hit the wall and return to flood the Westland Skating Center (T. 320-25, 458). Seipp Buick knew that the wall would have this effect when it constructed the wall, but still selected this alternative as the cheapest. (T. 1033).

Despite its specific knowledge, Seipp Buick never warned Westland about the purpose or design of the wall (T. 1036). It did not obtain permission from any person to construct the wall with or without drainage (<u>Id</u>.). Instead, Seipp Buick remained silent and waited for the next heavy rainfall.

In August and September, 1981, heavy seasonal storms hit Hialeah and the reasons why Seipp Buick had constructed the wall became apparent to the Petitioners. On both occasions, the wall obstructed the flow of surface water down from the Westland property and returned it uphill, causing floods of the Westland Skating Center (T. 388). In August 1981, after the first heavy rainfall (T. 134), Wayne Lippman, Executive Vice-President of Westland, received a call from his skating center manager that the wooden skating surface was rising (T. 134). Lippman arrived

and observed the wooden skating floor surface "buckle" or rise in places (T. 125). Lippman immediately retained a skating center floor expert who determined that there was more than a 30% moisture content in the wood (T. 143). Because the skating center floor was then unskateable, Lippman immediately shut down the skating center (T. 125). Westland determined that it could not repair the floor, but had to build a new one (T. 145).

Westland then tore out the now unskateable wooden floor and paid about \$96,000.00 to build a new one (T. 144, 179). Attempting to remedy future potential water problems, Westland built its floor higher by putting a concrete 3-inch barrier beneath the floor (T. 148-49). During construction, Westland was closed to the public for about 3 weeks (T. 140-49). By the middle of September, Westland reopened for business (T. 156). However, its business volume was measurably reduced (T. 569-78). Westland had an operating profit of \$16,000.00 during the month which preceded the flood, while in August it lost about \$15,000.00, a swing of \$31,000.00 in the month of the flood (T. 585-86).

On September 25, 1981, the Westland Skating Center suffered a second flood despite these precautions (T. 163). Rain water again flooded the skating center and again there was standing water on the skating floor (T. 163, 1026). Lippman advised a Westland employee to take a sledge hammer and knock holes in the Seipp wall to relieve the water pressure which was causing the flooding (T. 164-65). After making holes in the wall adjacent to

the two exit doors of the skating center, the water level immediately and dramatically subsided (T. 165).

Westland did not again replace the entire floor following the flood of September 25, 1981 (T. 177-78). Because of its loss of business due to the first flood, Westland could not afford to wait three (3) months without operating to replace the floor (<u>Id</u>.). Instead, Westland patched and "sanded" the buckled floor so that it was not completely unskateable, but the floor was never the same quality (T. 179).

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