OA 1-11-89

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 72,492

WESTLAND SKATING CENTER, INC. and HIALEAH SKATING CENTER, LTD., by and through WAYNE D. LIPPMAN and STEWART L. CAUFF, as General Partners,

Plaintiffs, Petitioners,

V.

GUS MACHADO BUICK, INC. and MORRISON ASSURANCE CO.

Defendants, Respondents.

DEFENDANTS', RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

Pamela Beckham, Esq.
Michael C. Spring, Esq.
CAREY, DWYER, COLE, ECKHART,
MASON & SPRING, P.A.
2180 Southwest 12th Avenue
Miami, Florida 33129
(305) 856-9920

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

From the inception of the case the petitioner took the position that the "civil law rule" was governing. For example, in the complaint and again in the amended complaint the petitioner claimed that as an "upper landowner" it had a "natural easement" to have runoff water drain onto the Machado Buick property. (R 1-8) In support of this contention, the petitioner's motion for summary judgment argued:

"Since the natural flow of surface waters is from a higher land to lower, the courts of Florida recognize that the higher of two adjacent land owners has a servitude land owner for the discharge of the surface waters". (R. 190).

Based on this argument the petitioner prevailed upon the trial court to enter the following "rule" which was to govern the case:

"That higher elevation land imposes a servitude on the owner of neighboring lower elevation land to accept the run off of water naturally flowing from a higher elevation to the lower".

While this statement is true under the "civil law rule" it only

partially states the rule. The completed rule is as follows:

"The servitude that the owner of a higher adjoining land has on the lower land for the discharge of surface water naturally falling on to the lower land from the dominant estate ordinarily extends only to surface water arising from natural causes, can not be increased or made more burdensome by the acts or industry of man." New Homes Inc. v. Mayne 169 So.2d 345 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964) (emphasis added).

Thus, when the truncated "rule" was given as a jury charge, the rights of lower land owners were totally ignored. Importantly, the petitioner's expert witness, Vincent Amy, testified at trial that construction of the skating center did, in fact, increase the speed and volume of the run off water onto Machado's property. Thus, if the civil law was applied properly, the petitioner would have lost.

While arguing for the application of the "civil law rule", with its resulting easements and servitudes, the petitioner at the same time argued that the upper land owner has a right to increase the runoff water so long as its use of the land is "reasonable". The test of reasonableness was, according to the petitioner, whether or not the upper land owner complied with the South Florida Building Code. As with the "civil law rule", however, the petitioner argued that only a portion of the code should actually be applied. The relevant portion of the South Florida Building Code is as follows:

(a) Rainwater or other liquid wastes from any premises shall be disposed of where same originates and/or falls in such manner as herein provided. The disposal of any rainwater or other liquid waste by causing or allowing same to be disposed of or flow on or across any adjoining property or sidewalk, either public or private, shall be deemed a nuisance, and shall be corrected by properly disposing of same and in accordance with the provisions of this Code.

- (b) Rainwater shall be disposed of as follows, with the required preference in the order listed:
 - (1) To a storm sewer or a storm sewer catch basin were permitted by the Engineer Department.
 - (2) To a street gutter but only if first approved by the Engineering Department.
 - (3) Into a drainage well if approved by the Florida Department of Pollution Control.
 - (4) Into a soakage pit. (See subsection 4611.6).
 - (5) Upon pervious ground.

In these proceedings the petitioner ignores, as it did in the past, that portion of the code which prohibits the discharge of rainwater across property lines. Indeed, the petitioner must do so, or else, again, it will surely lose. The trial court, at the petitioner's urging, accepted a truncated version of the South Florida Building Code, which resulted in the following law of the case:

"That the owner of higher elevation land has a right to use and improve his land by constructing a building on its property in accordance with the applicable building code requirements."

"That if the higher elevation owner complies with the applicable building code and rainwater then falls onto the building constructed on the higher elevation land, and from that building on to the lower elevation

land, a servitude on the lower elevation land is still imposed as it is for naturally flowing water.

These "rules" were given as jury charges. (T 215-50) As with the charge based on the "civil law rule", these charges focused only on the rights of the upper land owners and totally ignored those of the lower land owner. This omission suggested that only the upper land owner may develop his property in conformance with the building code. The building code, of course, applies to all land owners not just "upper" land owners. In this case the evidence is clear that the wall constructed by Machado Buick did, in fact, comply with the building code. (T 281-282)

There is an obvious tension between the "civil law rule" which permits an upper land owner to continue to discharge runoff water across his property line so long as the rate and volume of the flow is not increased and the South Florida Building Code which prohibits the discharge of run off water across property lines altogether. In this case, however, since the petitioner not only continued to discharge runoff water onto Machado Buick's property but also increased the rate and volume of the flow, if either the "civil law rule" or the South Florida Building Code is applied in its entirety the petitioner must lose as a matter of law.

In recognition of this dilemma, the petitioner now argues that the "civil law rule" which it invoked at the beginning of the case and maintained throughout the prior proceedings should now be abandoned. If this is to be done, a fortiori, the summary

judgment "rules" and the jury charges based on them were plainly erroneous and must also be cast aside.

The petitioner now argues that the "reasonable use rule" must now prevail. The "reasonable use rule" has not been tried in the trial court. There was absolutely no evidence going to the balancing of equities. In fact, a majority of plaintiff's case was spent trying to establish Westland as the upper landowner and suggesting bare compliance with the code was enough to prevail.

The "reasonable use rule" envisioned by the petitioner is to be measured by a bare compliance with the minimum design criteria of the code. The petitioner continues to ignore the fact that the code provision on which it relies prohibits the discharge of runoff water across property lines. The petitioner thus reaches the anomalous conclusion that the building code, which by its very terms prohibits the discharge of rainwater across property lines, actually allows the upland owner to increase the runoff of water.

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO PROPERLY APPLY THE SOUTH FLORIDA BUILDING CODE WHERE THE RIGHTS OF MACHADO WERE TOTALLY IGNORED AND WESTLAND NEVER MET THE PERFORMANCE CRITERIA OF THE CODE

Throughout Petitioners' argument, they continuously assert that the WESTLAND building was designed to comply with the South Florida Building Code. However, they fail to state two essential factors: MACHADO also fully complied with the code and WESTLAND never met the performance criteria of §4611.11(a) of the Code. Petitioners also completely omit the fact that compliance with the design criteria without compliance with the performance criteria is very simply a means with no end. In order to comply with the Code one must meet both the design and performance criteria of the §4611.11(a) and (b) of the Code.

The roof of the WESTLAND SKATING CENTER was pitched with approximately one-half of the water draining to the east and onehalf of the water draining to the west. On the western portion of the roof, that closest to the MACHADO property, there was a gutter system where rainwater drained into five downspouts. 524, 525). The water was coming down the downspouts from at least two stories in height and at a considerable velocity. effective area of drainage would be 198 square feet. It is important to remember that the code requires an effective area of drainage for this portion of the roof of at least 1,200 square feet. (T. 526).Therefore, it is very clear that although the Petitioners contend they met the design criteria of the code, that too is an error.

Both parties agree that the South Florida Building Code is applicable to the instant case. The Dade County Code, Chapter 8, §8-1 and 8-4 provides that the South Florida Building Code is applicable in both the incorporated and unincorporated areas of the county.

The South Florida Building Code §4611.11, provides for the disposal of rainwater in the following manner:

- (a) Rainwater or other liquid wastes from any premises shall be disposed of where same originates and/or falls in such manner as herein provided. The disposal of any rainwater or other liquid wastes by causing or allowing same to be disposed of or flow on or across any adjoining property or sidewalk, either public or private, shall be deemed a nuisance, and shall be corrected by properly disposing of same in accordance with the provisions of this Code.
- (b) Rainwater shall be disposed of as follows with required preference in the order listed:
 - (1) To a storm sewer gutter but only if first approved by the Engineering Department.
 - (2) To a street gutter but only if first approved by the Engineering Department.
 - (3) Into a drainage well, if approved by the Florida Department of Pollution Control.
 - (4) Into a soaking pit. (see Subsection 4611.6).
 - (5) Upon previous ground.

Although WESTLAND used the soakage pits and pervious ground options authorized under the Code to dispose of their rainwater, the evidence is clear that the disposal of rainwater from the Petitioners' premises failed to met the performance criteria set forth in subsection(a) of the same code. The entire purpose for using the soakage pits and pervious ground is to prevent the

rainwater from "flowing on or across any adjoining property". Thus, if such water does flow on or across any adjoining property according to part(a), it shall be corrected by properly disposing of same in accordance with the provisions of this code." It is also clear that if such water does flow across adjoining property it is deemed a nuisance as a matter of law.

The evidence is clear that water was allowed to flow on and across Respondents' adjacent property. Although WESTLAND may have met the design criteria of the South Florida Building Code, WESTLAND failed to meet the performance criteria of the code. However, simply meeting these minimum standards for construction and design will not free one from liability for negligence if the performance criteria of the Building Code is not met.

have consistently held that simply Courts meeting prescribed minimum standard will not free one from liability. "Where the violation of a criminal statue is negligence, it does not follow that compliance with it is due care. The statutory standard is no more than a minimum, and it does not necessarily preclude a finding that the actor was negligent in failing to take additional precautions". (Prosser on Torts, §36, p. 203). Thus, even though Petitioners may have met the minimum design standards as set out by the South Florida Building Code, WESTLAND can still be held liable for negligence in not meeting the performance standards of the Code. Indeed, had WESTLAND complied with the performance criteria of the Code, this case would not have arisen.

In the case of <u>Hubbard-Hall Chemical Company v. Silverman</u>, 340 F.2d 402 (1st Cir. 1965), the Court held that a manufacturer of insecticides would be held liable for the death of two farm laborers of limited education and reading ability where a warning regarding the product's use was on the label. The Court found that:

approval of the label given by the The Department of Agriculture merely satisfied the conditions laid down by Congress for the shipment of the product in interstate commerce. Neither Congress nor Department explicitly or implicitly provided that the Department's approval of the label it the carried with as a corollary proposition that Defendant had met the possibly higher standard of due care imposed by the common law of torts applied under the local state law . . . in actions of tort for negligence.

A manufacturer of fabric used in pajamas was not freed from fabric complied liability simply because the with the flammability-testing method prescribed by law. In that case, Sherman v. M. Lowenstein & Sons, Inc., 28 A.D.2d 922. 282 N.Y.S.2d 142 (1967), the Court stated that, "While a defendant's compliance with statute 'is some exercise of due care', it does not preclude a conclusion that he was negligent".

As the Court found in <u>Cronk v. Iowa Power and Light Company</u>, 138 N.W.2d 843 (Iowa, 1966), "Whether one complies with a code is a relevant fact on the question of due care and that proof of compliance is not conclusive of one's having taken due care". The case involved an action against an electric company for the death of a waterworks employee who was electrocuted while working

near uninsulated wires. "Actionable negligence may exist even though the utility involved has complied with the requirements of Whether a utility is negligent despite the safety code. compliance with safety code is ordinarily a question for the jury or trier of fact". In Scott v. Midyette-Moor, Inc., 221 So.2d 178 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969), a non-employee fell down a stairway and sustained injuries which led to his death. The safety rule under consideration was whether a handrail should be provided on such a stairway as required by the Florida Industrial Commission safety The evidence demonstrated that there was a handrail rule. present and therefore no violation of the safety rule had occurred. The Court held, however, that "The Commission's safety rule prescribing handrails was nonetheless admissible as evidence of what a reasonable and prudent person might provide with respect to the stairway in question". Under this rule and the rule enunciated in Cronk, the information regarding WESTLAND'S compliance with the South Florida Building Code with regard to the disposal of the surface waters from WESTLAND'S property onto MACHADO'S property, should have been submitted to the jury to determine the issue of due care.

Another case which supports the idea of jury determination of due care is <u>Paolinelli v. Dainty Foods Manufacturers, Inc.</u>, 54 N.E.2d 759 (Ill.App.Ct. 1944). This case also involves products liability, but there is no reason to believe that the same philosophy behind the rules enunciated in the products liability cases cannot be applied to the case at bar. The entire issue

rests on whether or not one should be freed from liability because one has met certain minimum statutory standards.

In Paolinelli, supra, a child died due to swallowing a bone allegedly contained in а noodle soup mixture manufactured by the Defendant. The Court found that even though the chicken fat or oil was government inspected, "It is well established that government inspection is not a substitute for due care . . . there was sufficient evidence to warrant the jury in finding that Plaintiff proved Defendant negligent in the manufacture, preparation and inspection of its product." Again. as stated previously and as articulated by the Court in D.J. Muncy, Jr. v. Magnolia Chemical Company, 437 S.W.2d 15 (Tex.Civ. App. 1969), "The statutes and regulations set minimum standards . . . a failure to comply would constitute negligence per se, however, mere compliance does not mean the manufacturer or seller is free from negligence as a matter of law." See also: Plunkett v. State of Texas, 591 S.W.2d 907 (Tex.Crim.App. 1980); Rumsey v. Freeway Manor Minimax, 423 S.W.2d 387 (Tex.Civ.App. 1968); and Lubbock Manufacturing Company v. Perez, 591 S.W.2d 907 (Tex.Civ. The case involved a worker who was sprayed by an App. 1979). insecticide and sustained injuries therefrom while moving cattle from one pen to another in order for them to be sprayed for lice.

The trial court accepted a truncated version of the South Florida Building Code. In other words, the Court, on Petitioners urging, focused on whether WESTLAND had complied with the Codes' design requirements on how to dispose of rainwater and completely

ignored whether the chosen design met the performance requirements of the code. As a result the trial court granted a Partial Summary Judgment in favor of Petitioners resulting in the following law of the case:

"That the owner of higher elevation land has a right to use and improve his land by constructing a building on its property in accordance with the applicable building code requirements."

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